

**REVISED PROPOSED REGULATION OF THE
BOARD OF MEDICAL EXAMINERS**

LCB File No. R068-23

April 1, 2024

EXPLANATION – Matter in *italics* is new; matter in brackets ~~omitted material~~ is material to be omitted.

AUTHORITY: §§ 1, 2, 16 and 24, NRS 630.130; § 3, NRS 630.130 and 630.200; §§ 4-6 and 14, NRS 630.130 and 630.253, as amended by section 28 of Senate Bill No. 439, chapter 528, Statutes of Nevada 2023, at page 3501; §§ 7, 17-19, 22 and 25, NRS 630.130 and 630.275; §§ 8-10, 20 and 21, NRS 630.130, 630.253, as amended by section 28 of Senate Bill No. 439, chapter 528, Statutes of Nevada 2023, at page 3501, and NRS 630.275; § 11, NRS 233B.121, 622.400, 630.130 and 630.140; § 12, NRS 630.130 and 630.265; § 13, NRS 630.130 and 630.266; § 15, NRS 630.130, 630.267 and 630.268; § 23, NRS 630.130 and 630.140; §§ 26, 28 and 29, NRS 630.130 and 630.279; § 27, NRS 622.530, 630.130 and 630.279; § 30, NRS 630.130, 630.269 and 630.2691; § 31, NRS 622.530, 630.130, 630.269 and 630.2691; §§ 32 and 33, NRS 630.130 and 630.269; § 34, NRS 630.130, 630.275 and 630.279.

A REGULATION relating to health care; prescribing the conditions under which the Board of Medical Examiners will deem a license to be in good standing; revising provisions concerning the issuance, renewal, denial and expiration of certain licenses; revising requirements relating to continuing education of physicians and physician assistants; requiring informed consent before a physician or physician assistant provides certain care or treatment to a patient; prohibiting a physician or physician assistant from requiring or asking a patient to waive certain rights; making revisions concerning compelling attendance and reimbursement of certain witnesses at a hearing of the Board; revising provisions governing the approval of a physician to supervise certain physician assistants or collaborate with certain advanced practice registered nurses under certain circumstances; revising the time by which a collaborating physician must notify the Board of the termination of the collaboration with an advanced practice registered nurse; requiring a collaborating physician to limit the controlled substances that certain advanced practice registered nurses may prescribe; clarifying provisions prohibiting the falsification of medical records; requiring a perfusionist to notify the Board of any update to his or her primary location of practice after changing such a location; repealing certain provisions governing disciplinary action against physician assistants and practitioners of respiratory care; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel’s Digest:

Existing law and regulations require a physician to be licensed and in good standing in this State in order to supervise a physician assistant, advanced practice registered nurse or anesthesiologist assistant. (NRS 630.025; section 6 of Assembly Bill No. 270, chapter 247, Statutes of Nevada 2023, at page 1545; NAC 630.370, 630.490) Existing law and regulations require a physician or physician assistant to be licensed and in good standing in another state in order to be eligible for certain types of licenses in this State. (NRS 630.261, 630.266; NAC 630.325) Existing law and regulations require a physician, physician assistant or practitioner of respiratory care whose license has expired to be in good standing in order to reinstate his or her license. (NRS 630.267; NAC 630.350, 630.530) Existing regulations require a hearing officer employed by the Board of Medical Examiners to be an attorney in good standing licensed to practice law in this State. (Section 5 of LCB File No. R171-20) Existing regulations require a licensee to be in good standing in order to change the status of his or her license to retired. (Section 1 of LCB File No. R118-21) **Section 2** of this regulation sets forth the conditions under which the Board will deem the holder of a license to be in good standing for those purposes.

Existing law authorizes the Board to deny an application for a license to practice medicine for any violation of a provision governing the licensing of persons to practice medicine. (NRS 630.200) **Section 3** of this regulation authorizes the Board to deny an application for a license to practice medicine if: (1) the applicant is not qualified or is not of good character or reputation; (2) any credential submitted by the applicant is false; or (3) the application is deficient in some manner. **Section 12** of this regulation authorizes the Board to deny an application to renew a limited license to practice medicine as a resident physician in a graduate program of clinical training for those reasons.

Existing law requires the Board to require: (1) the holder of a license to practice medicine to complete certain continuing education in evidence-based suicide prevention and awareness; (2) a physician or a physician assistant to complete certain continuing education in the screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment approach to substance use disorder; (3) a psychiatrist or a physician assistant practicing under the supervision of a psychiatrist to complete certain continuing education relating to cultural competency and diversity, equity and inclusion; and (4) a physician who provides or supervises the provision of emergency medical services in a hospital or primary care to complete certain continuing education in stigma, discrimination and unrecognized bias toward persons who have acquired or are at a high risk of acquiring human immunodeficiency virus. (NRS 630.253, as amended by section 28 of Senate Bill No. 439, chapter 528, Statutes of Nevada 2023, at page 3501) **Sections 4-6, 8, 9, 14 and 21** of this regulation impose such requirements. **Section 10** of this regulation authorizes a physician assistant to receive a certain amount of credit toward his or her required continuing education for performing a medical review for the Board.

Section 7 of this regulation requires a physician or physician assistant to obtain and document the informed consent of a patient or the representative of a patient before providing care or treatment to the patient, except in an emergency situation where the patient or his or her representative are not available or able to provide such consent. **Section 17** of this regulation prohibits a physician or physician assistant from requiring or asking a patient to waive his or her right to file a complaint with the Board or conditioning care or treatment on the provision of such a waiver.

Existing law authorizes the Board to hold hearings and conduct investigations pertaining to its duties regulating the practices of medicine, perfusion and respiratory care. (NRS 630.140) Existing law authorizes a state agency to adopt regulations authorizing the payment of fees and reimbursement for mileage to witnesses in the same amounts and under the same conditions as for witnesses in the courts of this State. (NRS 233B.121) Existing law also authorizes a regulatory body to recover certain fees and costs if the regulatory body enters a final order finding that a person has violated a provision that the regulatory body has the authority to enforce. (NRS 622.400) **Section 11** of this regulation sets forth: (1) the amounts at which witnesses must be reimbursed; and (2) the parties responsible for providing such reimbursement.

Existing regulations provide that the Board, acting on its own behalf, will not issue a subpoena to compel the attendance of a licensee at a hearing. (NAC 630.475) **Section 23** of this regulation narrows this provision to apply only to a licensee who is the respondent, thereby authorizing the Board to issue a subpoena to compel the attendance of licensees who are not the respondent at a hearing. **Section 23** additionally authorizes the Board to require a member of the Board or a licensee to produce certain documents at a hearing. **Section 23** also revises the conditions that must be met before the board may petition a district court for an order compelling compliance with a subpoena.

Existing law requires a physician who is licensed in another state to obtain a special event license to demonstrate medical techniques and procedures at a special event. (NRS 630.266) Existing regulations require an applicant for a special event license to include the dates and locations of such a demonstration. (NAC 630.147) **Section 13** of this regulation clarifies that the applicant is required to provide such information if the applicant will be assisting with such a demonstration.

Existing regulations provide that fees paid by a licensee for biennial registration of his or her license are not refundable. (NAC 630.175) **Section 15** of this regulation provides that fees paid for an application for, the issuance of or the renewal of a limited license to practice medicine as a resident physician in a graduate program are not refundable.

Existing regulations provide that the Board will reject an application that is not completed within 6 months after the application is filed with the Board. (NAC 630.180) **Section 16** of this regulation instead provides that the Board may close such an application without action.

Section 18 of this regulation makes certain technical changes regarding the postsecondary education of physician assistants. **Sections 19, 26, 27, 30 and 31** of this regulation revise requirements concerning disclosures on an application for licensure as a physician assistant, practitioner of respiratory care or perfusionist concerning: (1) education and experience; (2) violations of law; and (3) addresses of the applicant. **Sections 19, 26, 27, 30 and 31** also require an applicant to disclose whether he or she has an untreated medical condition that may affect his or her ability to practice or is using a prescription drug or other substance that may affect his or her ability to practice.

Sections 20 and 28 of this regulation revise provisions concerning the manner in which the Board will notify a physician assistant or a practitioner of respiratory care of the need and procedure for renewing his or her license. **Section 20** also provides that the Board will biennially send a list of expired licenses to practice as a physician assistant to the Drug Enforcement Administration of the United States Department of Justice and the State Board of Pharmacy. **Section 28** also revises certain terminology relating to continuing education of respiratory therapists for consistency with terminology used to refer to continuing education of other

professionals regulated by the Board. (NAC 630.153, 630.155, 630.156, 630.157, 630.350, 630.357, 630.358, 630.740)

Existing regulations prohibit a physician from supervising a physician assistant or collaborating with an advanced practice registered nurse who has been disciplined by the Board of Medical Examiners or State Board of Nursing, as applicable, unless the Board of Medical Examiners approves such supervision. (NAC 630.370, 630.490) **Sections 22 and 24** of this regulation: (1) authorize the Executive Director of the Board of Medical Examiners or his or her designee to approve a request by a physician who is supervising a physician assistant or collaborating with an advanced practice registered nurse who has been disciplined; and (2) prescribe certain requirements governing the submission and review of such a request. **Section 24** requires a physician who is collaborating with an advanced practice registered nurse to ensure that the advanced practice registered nurse only prescribes controlled substances that the collaborating physician is authorized to prescribe.

Existing regulations require a physician who is collaborating with an advanced practice registered nurse to immediately notify the Board of the termination of collaboration between the collaborating physician and the advanced practice registered nurse. (NAC 630.490) **Section 24** instead requires a collaborating physician to provide such notice within 72 hours after the termination.

Existing regulations prohibit a physician from supervising or collaborating with any combination of more than three physician assistants or advanced practice registered nurses unless the physician has received approval from the Board. (NAC 630.495) **Section 25** of this regulation prescribes requirements governing the review of a petition for such approval.

Existing regulations authorize the Board to discipline a practitioner of respiratory care or perfusionist for falsifying records of health care. (NAC 630.540, 630.770) **Sections 29 and 33** of this regulation specify that falsifying records of health care includes indicating the presence of a licensee at a procedure or the performance of a procedure by a licensee that the licensee was not present for or did not perform.

Existing regulations require a perfusionist to notify the Board of the name and location of his or her primary location of practice. (NAC 630.730) **Section 32** of this regulation additionally requires the perfusionist to update that information within 30 days after changing his or her primary location of practice.

Existing law prescribes: (1) certain procedures governing the imposition of discipline against a physician, physician assistant, practitioner of respiratory care, perfusionist or anesthesiologist assistant; and (2) the disciplinary actions that the Board is authorized to impose. (NRS 630.352) **Section 34** of this regulation repeals duplicative provisions relating to the discipline of physician assistants and practitioners of respiratory care.

Section 1. Chapter 630 of NAC is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 2 to 11, inclusive, of this regulation.

Sec. 2. *For the purposes of this chapter and chapter 630 of NRS, the Board will deem the holder of a license issued in this State or another state, as applicable, to be in good standing if*

the license is not expired, suspended, revoked, restricted, limited, conditioned, on probation or otherwise on a status that in any manner restricts the activity of the holder.

Sec. 3. *In addition to the grounds authorized in NRS 630.200, the Board may deny an application for a license to practice medicine if the Board determines that:*

- 1. The applicant is not qualified or is not of good character or reputation;*
- 2. The applicant submitted a false credential; or*
- 3. The application is not made in proper form or is otherwise deficient.*

Sec. 4. *1. Pursuant to NRS 630.253, the holder of a license to practice medicine shall complete at least 2 hours of instruction on evidence-based suicide prevention and awareness as described in NRS 630.253:*

(a) Within 2 years after initial licensure; and

(b) Every 4 years thereafter.

2. Except to the extent prohibited by NRS 630.253, the holder of a license to practice medicine is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required by subsection 1 of NAC 630.153 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 of this section.

Sec. 5. *1. Pursuant to NRS 630.253, a psychiatrist shall, during each biennial registration period, complete one or more courses of instruction that provide at least 2 hours of instruction relating to cultural competency and diversity, equity and inclusion as described in NRS 630.253.*

2. A psychiatrist is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required by subsection 1 of NAC 630.153 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 of this section.

Sec. 6. 1. Pursuant to NRS 630.253, as amended by section 28 of Senate Bill No. 439, chapter 528, Statutes of Nevada 2023, at page 3501, a physician who provides or supervises the provision of emergency medical services in a hospital or primary care shall complete at least 2 hours of training in the stigma, discrimination and unrecognized bias toward persons who have acquired or are at a high risk of acquiring human immunodeficiency virus within 2 years after beginning to provide or supervise the provision of such services or care.

2. A physician is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required by subsection 1 of NAC 630.153 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 of this section.

Sec. 7. 1. Except in an emergency situation described in subsection 3, a physician or physician assistant must obtain and document the informed consent of a patient or the representative of the patient before providing any care or treatment to the patient.

2. A physician or physician assistant obtaining the informed consent of a patient or the representative of a patient pursuant to subsection 1 shall inform the patient or the representative, as applicable, of:

(a) The qualifications of the physician or physician assistant, including, without limitation, any license or certification of:

(1) The physician or physician assistant; and

(2) For a physician assistant, his or her supervising physician; and

(b) The burdens, risks and expected benefits of all potential treatments or other courses of action, including, without limitation, not performing any treatment.

3. In an emergency situation where a patient or his or her representative is not available or able to provide informed consent pursuant to subsection 1, a physician or physician assistant:

(a) May initiate care or treatment of the patient before obtaining the informed consent of the patient or his or her representative for such care or treatment;

(b) Shall seek to obtain the informed consent of the patient or his or her representative at the earliest opportunity; and

(c) Must obtain the informed consent of the patient pursuant to subsection 1 before providing ongoing care or treatment after the emergency situation has concluded.

Sec. 8. 1. Pursuant to NRS 630.253, a physician assistant practicing under the supervision of a psychiatrist shall, during each biennial licensing period, complete one or more courses of instruction that provide at least 2 hours of instruction relating to cultural competency and diversity, equity and inclusion as described in NRS 630.253.

2. A physician assistant practicing under the supervision of a psychiatrist is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required by subsection 1 of NAC 630.350 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 of this section.

Sec. 9. 1. Pursuant to NRS 630.253, as amended by section 28 of Senate Bill No. 439, chapter 528, Statutes of Nevada 2023, at page 3501, a physician assistant who provides or supervises the provision of emergency medical services in a hospital or primary care shall complete at least 2 hours of training in the stigma, discrimination and unrecognized bias toward persons who have acquired or are at a high risk of acquiring human

immunodeficiency virus within 2 years after beginning to provide or supervise the provision of such services or care.

2. A physician assistant is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required by subsection 1 of NAC 630.350 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 of this section.

Sec. 10. *The Board may issue not more than 15 hours of continuing medical education during a biennial licensing period to a physician assistant if the physician assistant performs a medical review for the Board. The hours issued by the Board:*

1. May be credited against the hours required by NAC 630.350 for a biennial period of registration;

2. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, must be equal to the actual time of the medical review; and

3. May not be more than 10 hours per medical review.

Sec. 11. *1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, the Board will pay fees and reimburse mileage to a witness utilized by the Board in a hearing on a contested case in the same amounts and under the same conditions as for witnesses in the courts of this State.*

2. The Board will pay an expert witness according to the agreement between the Board or an investigative committee of the Board and the expert witness.

3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, the Board will, and each other party shall, pay its own fees and reimburse mileage to its witnesses.

4. If the Board or an investigative committee of the Board prevails at a hearing, the Board may, pursuant to NRS 622.400, require the respondent to reimburse the Board for any fees and reimbursements for mileage paid to a witness.

Sec. 12. NAC 630.135 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.135 1. A resident physician who wishes to renew a limited license to practice medicine as a resident physician in a graduate program of clinical training must file an application for renewal with the Board.

2. The application must be:

(a) Completed by the applicant; and

(b) Certified by the director of the program of clinical training.

3. As a condition of renewal of a limited license to practice medicine as a resident physician in a graduate program of clinical training, the licensee shall submit an annual report signed by the director of the program of clinical training that has been:

(a) Submitted on a form supplied by the Board; and

(b) Signed by the chair of the Graduate Medical Education Committee.

4. The holder of a limited license may be disciplined if information supplied to the Board by the director of the program of clinical training constitutes grounds for:

(a) Disciplinary action pursuant to NRS 630.301 to 630.3065, inclusive; or

(b) Denial or revocation of a license pursuant to NRS 630.161.

5. The Board may deny the application for any of the reasons set forth as grounds for the denial of a license to practice medicine pursuant to NRS 630.200 ~~H~~ *or section 3 of this regulation.*

Sec. 13. NAC 630.147 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.147 An applicant for a special event license issued pursuant to NRS 630.266 must, not later than 30 days before the requested effective date described in subsection 1, submit to the Board or, where appropriate, cause to be submitted to the Board:

1. An application for a special event license on a form approved by the Board. The application must include, without limitation, the date on which the applicant wishes the special event license to become effective. To ensure compliance with NRS 630.266, the application must also include:

(a) Verification that the applicant is currently licensed as a physician in another state and is in good standing in that state;

(b) The dates *when* and locations ~~{of}~~ *where* the ~~{demonstrations}~~ *applicant will be demonstrating or assisting in the demonstration* of medical techniques or procedures ~~{that the applicant plans to conduct}~~ pursuant to the special event license; and

(c) A description of the type of persons expected to attend the demonstrations.

2. The documentation and information, other than an application, that an applicant for a license to practice medicine is required to submit to the Board pursuant to NRS 630.165 to 630.173, inclusive, 630.195 and 630.197.

3. The applicable fee for the application for and issuance of the special event license as prescribed by the Board pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS 630.268.

4. Such other pertinent information as the Board may require.

Sec. 14. NAC 630.156 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.156 1. Pursuant to the provisions of NRS 630.2535 ~~{}~~ *and except as otherwise provided in that section*, a holder of a license to practice medicine who is registered to dispense controlled substances pursuant to NRS 453.231 shall, during each period for biennial registration, complete at least 2 hours of continuing medical education relating specifically to persons with substance use and other addictive disorders and the prescribing of opioids.

2. *Pursuant to NRS 630.253, a holder of a license to practice medicine shall complete at least 2 hours of training in the screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment approach to substance use disorder within 2 years after initial licensure.*

3. A program of continuing medical education relating specifically to persons with substance use and other addictive disorders and the prescribing of opioids *or a program of training in the screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment approach to substance use disorder* must offer, upon successful completion of the program, a certificate of Category 1 credit as recognized by the American Medical Association to the holder of the license.

~~3.1~~ 4. A holder of a license to practice medicine ~~who is registered to dispense controlled substances pursuant to NRS 453.231~~ is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required pursuant to subsection 1 of NAC 630.153 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 ~~of this section~~ *or training completed pursuant to subsection 2 of this section.*

Sec. 15. NAC 630.175 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.175 **1.** Unless the license has expired for nonpayment of the fee for registration, any person licensed to practice by the Board after July 1 of the second year of a period of biennial registration shall pay one-half of the fee for biennial registration for the current period of biennial registration. Any person licensed to practice by the Board after commencement of a period of biennial registration, but on or before July 1 of the second year of a period of biennial registration, shall pay the full fee for biennial registration. Except as otherwise provided by specific regulation, the fees for biennial registration are not refundable.

2. The fees paid for an application for, the issuance of or the renewal of a limited license to practice medicine as a resident physician in a graduate program in accordance with NRS 630.265 are not refundable.

Sec. 16. NAC 630.180 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.180 1. If an applicant:

(a) Does not complete his or her application by providing all the documentation required by the form for application within 6 months after the actual date of filing of the form by the applicant;

(b) Withdraws his or her application; or

(c) Dies before he or she is issued a license by the Board,

↳ the Board will not refund any portion of the fee for application.

2. Applications which are not completed within 6 months ~~will~~ *may* be ~~rejected.~~ *closed without action.*

3. If an applicant pays the fee for biennial registration at the time of application, the Board will refund the fee for biennial registration if the Board does not issue a license to the applicant for any reason set forth in subsection 1 or 2.

Sec. 17. NAC 630.230 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.230 1. A person who is licensed as a physician or physician assistant shall not:

(a) Falsify records of health care;

(b) Falsify the medical records of a hospital so as to indicate his or her presence at a time when he or she was not in attendance or falsify those records to indicate that procedures were performed by him or her which were in fact not performed by him or her;

(c) Render professional services to a patient while the physician or physician assistant is under the influence of alcohol or any controlled substance or is in any impaired mental or physical condition;

(d) Acquire any controlled substances from any pharmacy or other source by misrepresentation, fraud, deception or subterfuge;

(e) Prescribe anabolic steroids for any person to increase muscle mass for competitive or athletic purposes;

(f) Make an unreasonable additional charge for tests in a laboratory, radiological services or other services for testing which are ordered by the physician or physician assistant and performed outside his or her own office;

(g) Allow any person to act as a medical assistant in the treatment of a patient of the physician or physician assistant, unless the medical assistant has sufficient training to provide the assistance;

(h) Fail to provide adequate supervision of a medical assistant who is employed or supervised by the physician or physician assistant, including, without limitation, supervision provided in the manner described in NAC 630.810 or 630.820;

(i) If the person is a physician, fail to provide adequate supervision of a physician assistant or adequate collaboration with an advanced practice registered nurse with whom the physician is collaborating;

(j) Fail to honor the advance directive of a patient without informing the patient or the surrogate or guardian of the patient, and without documenting in the patient's records the reasons for failing to honor the advance directive of the patient contained therein;

(k) Engage in the practice of writing prescriptions for controlled substances to treat acute pain or chronic pain in a manner that deviates from the policies set forth in the *Guidelines for the Chronic Use of Opioid Analgesics* adopted by reference in NAC 630.187; ~~to~~

(l) Administer or use, or allow any person under his or her supervision, direction or control to administer or use, a single-use medical device:

(1) For more than one procedure;

(2) For more than one patient; or

(3) In a manner inconsistent with the manufacturer's instructions or directions included on or with the single-use medical device ~~H~~;

(m) Require or ask a patient to waive his or her right to file a complaint with the Board; or

(n) Condition care or treatment on the provision of a waiver described in paragraph (m).

2. A physician or physician assistant shall comply with all applicable provisions of chapters 440 and 629 of NRS and any regulation adopted pursuant thereto.

3. As used in this section:

(a) "Chronic pain" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 3 of the *Guidelines for the Chronic Use of Opioid Analgesics* adopted by reference in NAC 630.187.

(b) "Single-dose vial" means a vial, including, without limitation, a sealed sterile vial, which may be accessed by insertion of a needle and which, according to the manufacturer's instructions:

(1) Contains only one dose of a medication; and

(2) May be used for only one patient.

(c) “Single-use medical device” means a medical device that is intended for one use or on a single patient during a single procedure and includes, without limitation, a blade, clip, catheter, implant, insufflator, lancet, needle, sleeve, syringe and single-dose vial.

Sec. 18. NAC 630.280 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.280 An applicant for licensure as a physician assistant must have the following qualifications:

1. If the applicant has not practiced as a physician assistant for 24 months or more before applying for licensure in this State, he or she must, at the order of the Board, have taken and passed:

(a) The same examination to test medical competency as that given to applicants for initial licensure; or

(b) An examination designated by the Board, if the applicant is currently certified as a physician assistant by the National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistants, or its successor organization, and ineligible to take the examination described in paragraph (a).

2. Be able to communicate adequately orally and in writing in the English language.

3. Be of good moral character and reputation.

4. Have ~~attended and completed~~ *graduated from* a ~~course of training in residence~~ *postsecondary program of education* as a physician assistant approved by one of the following entities affiliated with the American Medical Association or its successor organization:

(a) The Committee on Allied Health Education and Accreditation or its successor organization;

(b) The Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs or its successor organization; or

(c) The Accreditation Review Commission on Education for the Physician Assistant or its successor organization.

5. Be certified by the National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistants or its successor organization.

~~{6. Possess a postsecondary degree.}~~

Sec. 19. NAC 630.290 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.290 1. An application for licensure as a physician assistant must be made on a form supplied by the Board. The application must state:

- (a) The date and place of the applicant's birth and his or her sex;
- (b) The applicant's *postsecondary* education ~~{}~~ *as a physician assistant*, including, without limitation, ~~{high schools and}~~ postsecondary institutions attended, the length of time in attendance at each and whether he or she is a graduate of those schools and institutions;
- (c) Whether the applicant has ever applied for a license or certificate as a physician assistant in another state and, if so, when and where and the results of his or her application;
- (d) The applicant's ~~{training and experience as a physician assistant;}~~ *work experience for the 5 years immediately preceding the date of his or her application;*
- (e) Whether the applicant has ever been investigated for misconduct as a physician assistant or had a license or certificate as a physician assistant revoked, modified, limited or suspended or whether any disciplinary action or proceedings have ever been instituted against the applicant by a licensing body in any jurisdiction;
- (f) Whether the applicant has ever been *arrested for, investigated for, charged with,* convicted of ~~{a felony}~~ or ~~{an}~~ *pled guilty or nolo contendere to:*

(1) Any offense ~~{involving moral turpitude;}~~ or violation of any federal, state or local law, including, without limitation, the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross misdemeanor, felony or similar offense in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding a minor traffic offense; or

(2) Any violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice;

(g) Whether the applicant has ever been *arrested for*, investigated for, charged with, ~~{or}~~ convicted of ~~{the use or illegal sale}~~ *or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any offense which is related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing or dispensing of controlled substances;*
~~{and}~~

(h) ~~{The various places of his or her residence from the date of:~~

~~—— (1) Graduation from high school;~~

~~—— (2) Receipt of a high school general equivalency diploma; or~~

~~—— (3) Receipt of a postsecondary degree,~~

~~→ whichever occurred most recently.}~~ *Whether the applicant has an untreated medical condition that may affect his or her ability to practice as a physician assistant;*

(i) Whether the applicant is using a prescription drug or other substance that may affect his or her ability to practice as a physician assistant; and

(j) A public address and the mailing address at which the applicant prefers to receive correspondence from the Board.

2. An applicant must submit to the Board:

(a) Proof of completion of an educational program as a physician assistant:

(1) If the applicant completed the educational program on or before December 31, 2001, which was approved by the Committee on Allied Health Education and Accreditation or the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs; or

(2) If the applicant completed the educational program on or after January 1, 2002, which is accredited by the Accreditation Review Commission on Education for the Physician Assistant or approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs;

(b) Proof of passage of the examination given by the National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistants; and

(c) Such further evidence and other documents or proof of qualifications as required by the Board.

3. Each application must be signed by the applicant and accompanied by a signed affidavit indicating that:

(a) The applicant is the person named in the proof of completion of an educational program as a physician assistant required by subsection 2;

(b) The proof of completion of the educational program required by subsection 2 was obtained without fraud or misrepresentation or any mistake of which the applicant is aware; and

(c) All the information contained in the application and any accompanying material is complete and correct.

4. The application must be accompanied by the applicable fee.

5. An applicant shall pay the reasonable costs of any examination required for licensure.

Sec. 20. NAC 630.350 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.350 1. The license of a physician assistant may be renewed biennially. ~~The~~ *Except as otherwise provided in section 10 of this regulation, the* license will not be renewed unless the

physician assistant provides satisfactory proof that the physician assistant has completed the following number of hours of continuing medical education as defined by the American Academy of Physician Assistants or has received a certificate documenting the completion of the following number of hours of Category 1 credits as recognized by the American Medical Association:

- (a) If licensed during the first 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 40 hours.
- (b) If licensed during the second 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 30 hours.
- (c) If licensed during the third 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 20 hours.
- (d) If licensed during the fourth 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 10 hours.

2. To allow for the renewal of a license to practice as a physician assistant by each person to whom a license was issued or renewed in the preceding renewal period, the Board will make such reasonable attempts as are practicable to:

(a) ~~Mail~~ *Send* a renewal notice *to the licensee* at least 60 days before the expiration of a license to practice as a physician assistant; and

(b) Send ~~the renewal application~~ *instructions for the licensee to renew his or her license* to ~~the licensee at~~ the last known *electronic mail* address of the licensee on record with the Board.

3. If a licensee fails to pay the fee for biennial registration after it becomes due or fails to submit proof that the licensee completed the number of hours of continuing medical education required by subsection 1, his or her license to practice in this State expires. Within 2 years after the date on which the license expires, the holder may be reinstated to practice as a physician assistant if the holder:

(a) Pays twice the amount of the current fee for biennial registration to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Board;

(b) Submits proof that he or she completed the number of hours of continuing medical education required by subsection 1; and

(c) Is found to be in good standing and qualified pursuant to this chapter.

4. Not later than September 30 of each odd-numbered year, the Board will provide a list of licenses to practice as a physician assistant that have expired during the immediately preceding biennium to the Drug Enforcement Administration of the United State Department of Justice or its successor agency and the State Board of Pharmacy.

Sec. 21. NAC 630.358 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.358 1. Pursuant to the provisions of NRS 630.2535 ~~H~~ *and except as otherwise provided in that section*, a physician assistant who is registered to dispense controlled substances pursuant to NRS 453.231 shall, during each period for biennial registration, complete at least 2 hours of continuing medical education relating specifically to persons with substance use and other addictive disorders and the prescribing of opioids.

2. *Pursuant to NRS 630.253, a physician assistant shall complete at least 2 hours of training in the screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment approach to substance use disorder within 2 years after initial licensure.*

3. A program of continuing medical education relating specifically to persons with substance use and other addictive disorders and the prescribing of opioids *or a program of training in the screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment approach to substance use disorder* must:

(a) Be a program of continuing medical education as defined by the American Academy of Physician Assistants; or

(b) Offer, upon successful completion of the program, a certificate of Category 1 credit as recognized by the American Medical Association to the physician assistant.

~~3.4~~ 4. A physician assistant ~~[who is registered to dispense controlled substances pursuant to NRS 453.231]~~ is entitled to receive credit towards the continuing medical education required pursuant to subsection 1 of NAC 630.350 for each hour of continuing medical education completed pursuant to subsection 1 ~~of this section~~ *of this section or training completed pursuant to subsection 2 of this section.*

Sec. 22. NAC 630.370 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.370 1. Except as otherwise provided in NAC 630.375, the supervising physician is responsible for all the medical activities of his or her physician assistant and shall ensure that:

- (a) The physician assistant is clearly identified to the patients as a physician assistant;
- (b) The physician assistant performs only those medical services which have been approved by his or her supervising physician;
- (c) The physician assistant does not represent himself or herself in any manner which would tend to mislead the general public, the patients of the supervising physician or any other health professional; and
- (d) There is strict compliance with:
 - (1) The provisions of the certificate of registration issued to his or her physician assistant by the State Board of Pharmacy pursuant to NRS 639.1373; and
 - (2) The regulations of the State Board of Pharmacy regarding controlled substances, poisons, dangerous drugs or devices.

2. Except as otherwise required in subsection 3 or 4, the supervising physician shall review and initial selected charts of the patients of the physician assistant. Unless the physician assistant

is performing medical services pursuant to NAC 630.375, the supervising physician must be available at all times that his or her physician assistant is performing medical services to consult with his or her assistant. Those consultations may be indirect, including, without limitation, by telephone.

3. At least once a month, the supervising physician shall spend part of a day at any location where the physician assistant provides medical services to act as a consultant to the physician assistant and to monitor the quality of care provided by the physician assistant. The requirements of this subsection are satisfied if the supervising physician spends part of a day at any location where the physician assistant uses telehealth to provide medical services.

4. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, if the supervising physician is unable to supervise the physician assistant as required by this section, the supervising physician shall designate a qualified substitute physician, who practices medicine in the same specialty as the supervising physician, to supervise the assistant. If the physician assistant is performing medical services pursuant to NAC 630.375, the supervising physician is not required to comply with this subsection.

5. A physician who supervises a physician assistant shall develop and carry out a program to ensure the quality of care provided by a physician assistant. The program must include, without limitation:

- (a) An assessment of the medical competency of the physician assistant.
- (b) A review and initialing of selected charts, which may include, without limitation, electronic medical records.
- (c) An assessment of a representative sample of the referrals or consultations made by the physician assistant with other health professionals as required by the condition of the patient.

(d) Direct observation of the ability of the physician assistant to take a medical history from and perform an examination of patients representative of those cared for by the physician assistant. The requirements of this paragraph are satisfied if a program includes direct observation of a physician assistant while the physician assistant uses telehealth to provide such services.

(e) Maintenance by the supervising physician of accurate records and documentation regarding the program for each physician assistant supervised.

6. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 7, a physician may supervise a physician assistant if the physician:

- (a) Holds an active license in good standing to practice medicine issued by the Board;
- (b) Actually practices medicine in this State; and
- (c) Has not been specifically prohibited by the Board from acting as a supervising physician.

7. If the Board has disciplined a physician assistant pursuant to ~~NAC 630.410,~~ **NRS 630.352**, a physician shall not supervise that physician assistant unless the physician has been specifically approved by the *Executive Director of the Board or his or her designee* to act as the supervising physician of that physician assistant. *A physician may request such approval by submitting a plan of supervision to the Executive Director or his or her designee for review. The plan of supervision must be consistent with the requirements of subsection 5.*

8. When determining pursuant to subsection 7 whether to approve the supervision of a physician assistant who has been disciplined by the Board, the Executive Director or his or her designee shall review the licensing history and disciplinary history of the physician and the physician assistant.

Sec. 23. NAC 630.475 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.475 1. A subpoena issued pursuant to NRS 630.140 must specify the name of the witness and specifically identify the books, X-rays, medical records or other papers which are required to be produced.

2. The Board or a person acting on its behalf will not issue a subpoena to compel the attendance of a member of the Board or a licensee *who is also the respondent* at a hearing. ~~for require a member of the Board or a licensee to produce books, X-rays, medical records or any other papers during a hearing.~~

3. The Board or a person acting on its behalf will not petition the district court for an order compelling compliance with a subpoena unless:

- (a) ~~At the time the subpoena is served, the witness is tendered:~~
- ~~(1) A fee of \$25 for the first day of attendance at the hearing;~~
 - ~~(2) An allowance for travel which is equal to the allowance for travel by private conveyance provided for state officers and employees generally; and~~
 - ~~(3) A per diem allowance equal to the per diem allowance provided for state officers and employees generally.~~ *The Board agrees to pay witness fees and reimbursement for mileage as provided in section 11 of this regulation; and*

(b) ~~It~~ *The subpoena* is served upon the witness at least ~~120 hours~~ *5 days* before he or she is required to appear at the hearing.

Sec. 24. NAC 630.490 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.490 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, a physician may collaborate with an advanced practice registered nurse if the physician:

- (a) Holds an active license in good standing to practice medicine;
- (b) Actually practices medicine in this State; and

(c) Has not been specifically prohibited by the Board from acting as a collaborating physician.

2. No physician may collaborate with an advanced practice registered nurse whose scope of practice or medical competence is other than the scope of practice or medical competence of the physician.

3. Before collaborating with an advanced practice registered nurse, a physician, on a form prescribed by the Board, shall notify the Board of the name and location of the practice of the advanced practice registered nurse and the portion of the practice of the advanced practice registered nurse that the physician will collaborate on with the advanced practice registered nurse. The notice must contain the signatures of the advanced practice registered nurse and the collaborating physician.

4. In addition to any other requirements, if the State Board of Nursing pursuant to NRS 632.349 has disciplined an advanced practice registered nurse, a physician shall not collaborate with that advanced practice registered nurse unless the physician has been specifically approved by the *Executive Director of the Board or his or her designee* to act as the collaborating physician of that advanced practice registered nurse. *A physician may request such approval by submitting a plan of collaboration to the Executive Director or his or her designee for review.*

The plan for collaboration must be consistent with the requirements of subsection 9.

5. *When determining pursuant to subsection 4 whether to approve collaboration with an advanced practice registered nurse who has been disciplined by the Board, the Executive Director or his or her designee shall review the licensing history and disciplinary history of the physician and the advanced practice registered nurse.*

6. A collaborating physician shall ~~immediately~~, *within 72 hours after the termination of collaboration between the collaborating physician and an advanced practice registered nurse*, notify the Board of the termination. ~~of collaboration between the collaborating physician and an advanced practice registered nurse.~~ For any portion of the practice of the advanced practice registered nurse that the collaborating physician terminating collaboration with the advanced practice registered nurse collaborated, no physician shall collaborate with the advanced practice registered nurse until the physician submits notice to the Board pursuant to subsection 3.

~~6.~~ 7. The collaborating physician or his or her substitute shall be available at all times that the advanced practice registered nurse is providing medical services to consult with the advanced practice registered nurse. Those consultations may be indirect, including, without limitation, by telephone.

~~7.~~ 8. The collaborating physician shall, at least once a month, spend part of a day at any location where the advanced practice registered nurse provides medical services to act as consultant to the advanced practice registered nurse and to monitor the quality of care provided by an advanced practice registered nurse.

~~8.~~ 9. The collaborating physician shall develop and carry out a program to ensure the quality of care provided by an advanced practice registered nurse. The program must include, without limitation:

- (a) An assessment of the medical competency of the advanced practice registered nurse;
- (b) A review and initialing of selected charts;
- (c) An assessment of a representative sample of referrals or consultations made by the advanced practice registered nurse with another health professional as required by the condition of the patient;

(d) Direct observation of the ability of the advanced practice registered nurse to take a medical history from and perform an examination of patients representative of those cared for by the advanced practice registered nurse; and

(e) Maintenance of accurate records and documentation of the program for each advanced practice registered nurse with whom the physician collaborated.

~~9.~~ **10.** The collaborating physician shall ensure that the advanced practice registered nurse:

(a) Does not use presigned prescriptions; ~~and~~

(b) Practices in strict compliance with the regulations of the State Board of Pharmacy regarding prescriptions, controlled substances, dangerous drugs and devices ~~;~~

~~10.~~ ; and

(c) Only prescribes controlled substances that the collaborating physician is authorized to prescribe under state and federal law.

11. The medical director of a practice that is specific to a site, including, without limitation, a facility for skilled nursing or a hospital, may act as a collaborating physician to an advanced practice registered nurse who works at the practice. A medical director acting as a collaborating physician may allow the advanced practice registered nurse to evaluate and care for patients under the direction of an attending physician who is not the collaborating physician of the advanced practice registered nurse.

~~11.~~ **12.** A collaborating physician shall ensure that the medical services that an advanced practice registered nurse performs while collaborating with the physician are:

(a) Commensurate with the education, training, experience and level of competence of the advanced practice registered nurse; and

(b) Within the scope of practice of the:

- (1) Advanced practice registered nurse;
- (2) Certification of the advanced practice registered nurse; and
- (3) Collaborating physician.

~~H2.1~~ **13.** If the collaborating physician is unable to act as the collaborating physician for an advanced practice registered nurse, he or she shall designate a qualified substitute physician to act as a temporary collaborating physician. The scope of practice or medical competence of the temporary collaborating physician must be the same as the scope of practice or medical competence of the original collaborating physician.

~~H3.1~~ **14.** The collaborating physician is responsible for all the medical services performed by the advanced practice registered nurse.

Sec. 25. NAC 630.495 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.495 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, a physician shall not simultaneously:

- (a) Supervise more than three physician assistants;
- (b) Collaborate with more than three advanced practice registered nurses; or
- (c) Supervise or collaborate with a combination of more than three physician assistants and advanced practice registered nurses.

2. A physician may petition the Board for approval to supervise or collaborate with more physician assistants and advanced practice registered nurses than he or she would otherwise be allowed pursuant to subsection 1.

3. The *Executive Director of the* Board ~~will~~ *or his or her designee shall review and approve or deny a petition made pursuant to subsection 2. The Executive Director or his or*

her designee shall not approve the petition unless the physician provides satisfactory proof to the Board that:

(a) Special circumstances regarding his or her practice exist that necessitate his or her supervision or collaboration with more physician assistants and advanced practice registered nurses than would otherwise be allowed pursuant to subsection 1; and

(b) The physician will be able to supervise or collaborate with the number of physician assistants and advanced practice registered nurses for which he or she is requesting approval in a satisfactory manner.

4. When determining pursuant to subsection 3 whether to approve a petition made pursuant to subsection 2, the Executive Director or his or her designee shall review the licensing history and disciplinary history of the physician and each physician assistant or advanced practice registered nurse.

Sec. 26. NAC 630.505 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.505 1. An application for licensure as a practitioner of respiratory care must be made on a form supplied by the Board. The application must include:

(a) The date of birth and the birthplace of the applicant ~~{,} and his or her sex ; {and the various places of his or her residence after reaching 18 years of age;}~~

(b) The *postsecondary* education of the applicant ~~{,} as a practitioner of respiratory care,~~ including, without limitation, ~~{all high schools,}~~ postsecondary institutions and professional institutions attended, the length of time in attendance at each ~~{high school or}~~ institution and whether he or she is a graduate of those ~~{schools and}~~ institutions;

(c) Whether the applicant has ever applied for a license or certificate as a practitioner of respiratory care in another state and, if so, when and where and the results of his or her application;

(d) The ~~professional training and~~ *work* experience of the applicant ~~for~~ *for the 5 years immediately preceding the date of his or her application;*

(e) Whether the applicant has ever been investigated for misconduct as a practitioner of respiratory care or had a license or certificate as a practitioner of respiratory care revoked, modified, limited or suspended or whether any disciplinary action or proceedings have ever been instituted against him or her by a licensing body in any jurisdiction;

(f) Whether the applicant has ever been *arrested for, investigated for, charged with,* convicted of ~~a felony or an~~ *or pled guilty or nolo contendere to:*

(1) Any offense ~~involving moral turpitude;~~ or violation of any federal, state or local law, including, without limitation, the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross misdemeanor, felony or similar offense in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding a minor traffic offense; or

(2) Any violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice;

(g) Whether the applicant has ever been *arrested for,* investigated for, charged with, ~~or~~ convicted of ~~the use, illegal sale or~~ *or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any offense which is related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing or dispensing* of controlled substances; ~~and~~

(h) *Whether the applicant has an untreated medical condition that may affect his or her ability to practice respiratory care;*

(i) Whether the applicant is using a prescription drug or other substance that may affect his or her ability to practice respiratory care; and

(j) A public address and the mailing address at which the applicant prefers to receive correspondence from the Board.

2. An applicant must submit to the Board:

(a) Proof of completion of an educational program as a practitioner of respiratory care that is approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs or its successor organization or the Commission on Accreditation for Respiratory Care or its successor organization;

(b) Proof of passage of the examinations required by NRS 630.277 and NAC 630.500 and 630.515; and

(c) Such further evidence and other documents or proof of qualifications as required by the Board.

3. Each application must be signed by the applicant and accompanied by a signed affidavit indicating that:

(a) The applicant is the person named in the proof of completion of an educational program as a practitioner of respiratory care required by subsection 2;

(b) The proof of completion of the educational program required by subsection 2 was obtained without fraud or misrepresentation or any mistake of which the applicant is aware; and

(c) All the information contained in the application and any accompanying material is complete and correct.

4. The application must be accompanied by the applicable fees for the application for licensure and biennial registration.

5. An applicant shall pay the reasonable costs of any examination required for licensure.

Sec. 27. NAC 630.513 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.513 1. An application for licensure by endorsement as a practitioner of respiratory care must be made on a form supplied by the Board. The application must include:

- (a) The date of birth and the birthplace of the applicant ~~{;}~~ *and* his or her sex ; ~~{and the various places of his or her residence after reaching 18 years of age;}~~
- (b) The *postsecondary* education of the applicant ~~{;}~~ *as a practitioner of respiratory care*, including, without limitation, ~~{all high schools;}~~ postsecondary institutions and professional institutions attended, the length of time in attendance at each ~~{high school or}~~ institution and whether he or she is a graduate of those ~~{schools and}~~ institutions;
- (c) Whether the applicant has ever applied for a license or certificate as a practitioner of respiratory care in the District of Columbia or in another state or territory of the United States and, if so, when and where and the results of his or her application;
- (d) The ~~{professional training and}~~ *work* experience of the applicant ~~{;}~~ *for the 5 years immediately preceding the date of his or her application;*
- (e) Whether the applicant has been disciplined by the corresponding regulatory authority of the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States in which the applicant currently holds or has held a license to engage in the practice of respiratory care;
- (f) Whether the applicant has been held civilly or criminally liable in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States for misconduct relating to his or her license to engage in the practice of respiratory care;
- (g) Whether the applicant has had a license to engage in the practice of respiratory care suspended or revoked in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States;

(h) Whether the applicant has pending any disciplinary action concerning his or her license to engage in the practice of respiratory care in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States;

(i) Whether the applicant has ever been *arrested for, investigated for, charged with,* convicted of ~~{a felony or an}~~ *or pled guilty or nolo contendere to:*

(1) Any offense ~~{involving moral turpitude;}~~ or violation of any federal, state or local law, including, without limitation, the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross misdemeanor, felony or similar offense in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding any minor traffic offense; or

(2) Any violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice;

(j) Whether the applicant has ever been *arrested for,* investigated for, charged with, ~~{or}~~ convicted of ~~{the use, illegal sale}~~ *or pled guilty or nolo contendere to any offense which is related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing or dispensing of controlled substances; ~~{and}~~*

(k) *Whether the applicant has an untreated medical condition that may affect his or her ability to practice respiratory care;*

(l) Whether the applicant is using a prescription drug or other substance that may affect his or her ability to practice respiratory care; and

(m) A public address ~~{where the applicant may be contacted by the Board.}~~ and the mailing address at which the applicant prefers to receive correspondence from the Board.

2. An applicant must submit to the Board:

(a) Proof that he or she holds a corresponding valid and unrestricted license to engage in the practice of respiratory care in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States;

(b) Proof that he or she has engaged in the practice of respiratory care for a period of at least 12 months immediately preceding the date on which the application is submitted;

(c) Proof of completion of an educational program as a practitioner of respiratory care that is approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs or its successor organization or the Commission on Accreditation for Respiratory Care or its successor organization, or another educational program as approved by the Board;

(d) Proof of passage of the examinations required by NRS 630.277 and NAC 630.500 and 630.515;

(e) Such further evidence and other documents or proof of qualifications as required by the Board;

(f) The statement prescribed by the Division of Welfare and Supportive Services of the Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to NRS 425.520;

(g) An affidavit stating that the information contained in the application and any accompanying material is true and complete; and

(h) A complete set of his or her fingerprints and written permission authorizing the Board to forward the fingerprints to the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal History for submission to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for its report or proof that the applicant has previously passed a comparable criminal background check.

3. Each application must be signed by the applicant and sworn to before a notary public or other officer authorized to administer oaths.

4. The application must be accompanied by the applicable fees for the application for licensure and biennial registration.

5. An applicant shall pay the reasonable costs of any examination required for licensure.

6. Not later than 21 business days after receiving an application for a license by endorsement pursuant to this section, the Board will provide written notice to the applicant of any additional information required by the Board to consider the application. Unless the Board denies the application for good cause, the Board will approve the application and issue a license by endorsement to engage in the practice of respiratory care to the applicant not later than:

(a) Sixty days after receiving the application; or

(b) Fifteen days after the Board receives the report from the Federal Bureau of Investigation or proof that the applicant has previously passed a comparable criminal background check, as required by paragraph (h) of subsection 2,

↳ whichever occurs later.

7. A license by endorsement to engage in the practice of respiratory care in this State issued pursuant to this section may be issued at a meeting of the Board or between its meetings by the presiding member of the Board and the executive director of the Board. Such an action shall be deemed to be an action of the Board.

8. If an applicant seeking licensure by endorsement pursuant to this section is an active member of, or the spouse of an active member of, the Armed Forces of the United States, a veteran or the surviving spouse of a veteran, the Board will charge not more than one-half of the fee established pursuant to NRS 630.268 for the initial issuance of the license.

9. In addition to the grounds set forth in NAC 630.510 and 630.540, the Board may deny an application for licensure by endorsement pursuant to this section if:

(a) An applicant willfully fails to comply with the provisions of paragraph (h) of subsection 2; or

(b) The report from the Federal Bureau of Investigation indicates that the applicant has been convicted of a crime that would be grounds for taking disciplinary action against the applicant as a licensee and the Board has not previously taken disciplinary action against the ~~licensee~~ *applicant* based on that conviction.

Sec. 28. NAC 630.530 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.530 1. The license of a practitioner of respiratory care may be renewed biennially upon dates set by the Board. The license will not be renewed unless the practitioner of respiratory care provides satisfactory proof:

(a) Of current certification by the National Board for Respiratory Care or its successor organization; and

(b) That he or she has completed the number of ~~contact~~ hours of continuing professional education required by subsections 2 and 3.

2. To renew a license for the practice of respiratory care, a licensee must complete the number of ~~contact~~ hours of continuing education required by subsection 3, of which:

(a) Sixty percent must be from an approved educational source directly related to the practice of respiratory care. Two hours of this 60 percent must be in medical ethics.

(b) Forty percent must be in any program approved by the American Association for Respiratory Care for Continuing Respiratory Care Education or any program of another organization approved by the Board.

3. The following ~~contact~~ hours for continuing education are required for a licensee to renew a license for the practice of respiratory care:

- (a) If licensed during the first 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 20 hours.
- (b) If licensed during the second 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 15 hours.
- (c) If licensed during the third 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 10 hours.
- (d) If licensed during the fourth 6 months of the biennial period of registration, 5 hours.

4. A practitioner of respiratory care shall notify the Board within 10 days if his or her certification by the National Board for Respiratory Care or its successor organization is withdrawn.

5. To allow for the renewal of a license to practice respiratory care by each person to whom a license was issued or renewed in the preceding renewal period, the Board will make such reasonable attempts as are practicable to:

(a) ~~Mail~~ *Send* a renewal notice *to the licensee* at least 60 days before the expiration of a license to practice respiratory care; and

(b) Send ~~the renewal application~~ *instructions for the licensee to renew his or her license* to ~~the~~ *the* licensee at the last known *electronic mail* address of the licensee on record with the Board.

6. If a licensee fails to pay the fee for biennial registration on or before the date required by NAC 630.525 or fails to submit proof that the licensee completed the number of ~~contact~~ hours of continuing education required by subsections 2 and 3, his or her license to practice respiratory therapy in this State expires. Within 2 years after the date on which the license expires, the holder may be reinstated to practice respiratory care if he or she:

(a) Pays twice the amount of the current fee for biennial registration to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Board;

(b) Submits proof that he or she completed the number of ~~feontact~~ hours of continuing education required by subsections 2 and 3; and

(c) Is found to be in good standing and qualified pursuant to the provisions of this chapter and NRS 630.277.

7. The Board may issue not more than 10 ~~feontact~~ hours of continuing education during a biennial licensing period to a licensee if the licensee performs a medical review for the Board.

The hours issued by the Board:

(a) May be credited against the hours required for a biennial licensing period pursuant to subsections 2 and 3; and

(b) Must be equal to the actual time involved in performing the medical review, not to exceed 10 hours.

Sec. 29. NAC 630.540 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.540 A practitioner of respiratory care is subject to discipline or denial of licensure by the Board if, after notice and hearing in accordance with this chapter, the Board finds that the practitioner of respiratory care:

1. Willfully and intentionally made a false or fraudulent statement or submitted a forged or false document in applying for a license or renewing a license.

2. Performed respiratory care services other than as permitted by law.

3. Committed malpractice in the performance of respiratory care services, which may be evidenced by claims settled against a practitioner of respiratory care.

4. Disobeyed any order of the Board or an investigative committee of the Board or violated a provision of this chapter.

5. Is not competent to provide respiratory care services.

6. Lost his or her certification by the National Board for Respiratory Care or its successor organization.
7. Failed to notify the Board of loss of certification by the National Board for Respiratory Care or its successor organization.
8. Falsified records of health care **+**, *including, without limitation, by indicating his or her presence at a procedure or the performance of a procedure that he or she was not present for or did not perform, as applicable.*
9. Rendered respiratory care to a patient while under the influence of alcohol or any controlled substance or in any impaired mental or physical condition.
10. Practiced respiratory care after his or her license has expired or been suspended.
11. Has been convicted of a felony, any offense involving moral turpitude or any offense relating to the practice of respiratory care or the ability to practice respiratory care.
12. Has had a license to practice respiratory care revoked, suspended, modified or limited by any other jurisdiction or has surrendered such license or discontinued the practice of respiratory care while under investigation by any licensing authority, a medical facility, a branch of the Armed Forces of the United States, an insurance company, an agency of the Federal Government or any employer.
13. Engaged in any sexual activity with a patient who is currently being treated by the practitioner of respiratory care.
14. Engaged in disruptive behavior with physicians, hospital personnel, patients, members of the family of a patient or any other person if the behavior interferes with patient care or has an adverse impact on the quality of care rendered to a patient.

15. Engaged in conduct that violates the trust of a patient and exploits the relationship between the practitioner of respiratory care and the patient for financial or other personal gain.

16. Engaged in conduct which brings the respiratory care profession into disrepute, including, without limitation, conduct which violates any provision of a national code of ethics adopted by the Board by regulation.

17. Engaged in sexual contact with a surrogate of a patient or other key person related to a patient, including, without limitation, a spouse, parent or legal guardian, that exploits the relationship between the practitioner of respiratory care and the patient in a sexual manner.

18. Made or filed a report that the practitioner of respiratory care knows to be false, failed to file a record or report as required by law or willfully obstructed or induced another to obstruct such filing.

19. Altered the medical records of a patient.

20. Failed to report any person that the practitioner of respiratory care knows, or has reason to know, is in violation of the provisions of chapter 630 of NRS or NAC 630.500 to 630.560, inclusive, relating to the practice of respiratory care.

21. Has been convicted of a violation of any federal or state law regulating the prescription, possession, distribution or use of a controlled substance.

22. Held himself or herself out or permitted another to represent him or her as a licensed physician.

23. Violated any provision that would subject a practitioner of medicine to discipline pursuant to NRS 630.301 to 630.3065, inclusive, or NAC 630.230.

24. Failed to comply with any applicable provisions of chapter 629 of NRS or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto.

Sec. 30. NAC 630.700 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.700 1. An application for licensure as a perfusionist must be made on a form provided by the Board. The application must set forth:

- (a) The date and place of birth of the applicant;
- (b) The gender of the applicant;
- (c) The *postsecondary* education of the applicant ~~in~~ *as a perfusionist*, including, without limitation, each ~~high school and~~ postsecondary institution attended by the applicant, the dates of attendance and whether the applicant is a graduate of those ~~schools and~~ institutions;
- (d) If the applicant has ever applied for a license or certificate to practice perfusion in another state or jurisdiction, the date and disposition of the application;
- (e) The ~~training and~~ *work* experience of the applicant ~~in the practice of perfusion;~~ *for the 5 years immediately preceding the date of his or her application;*
- (f) If the applicant has ever been investigated for misconduct in the practice of perfusion, had a license or certificate to practice perfusion revoked, modified, limited or suspended or had any disciplinary action or proceeding instituted against the applicant by a licensing body in another state or jurisdiction, the dates, circumstances and disposition of each such occurrence;
- (g) If the applicant has ever been *arrested for, investigated for, charged with*, convicted of ~~a felony~~ or ~~any~~ *pled guilty or nolo contendere to:*
 - (1) *Any offense ~~involving moral turpitude, the dates, circumstances and disposition of each such occurrence;~~ or violation of any federal, state or local law, including, without limitation, the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross misdemeanor, felony, or similar offense in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding any minor traffic offense; or*
 - (2) *Any violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice;*

(h) If the applicant has ever been *arrested for*, investigated for, charged with, ~~or~~ convicted of ~~the use or illegal sale~~ *or plead guilty or nolo contendere to any offense which is related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing* or dispensing of a controlled substance ; ~~the dates, circumstances and disposition of each such occurrence; and~~

(i) ~~Each place of residence of the applicant after the date of graduation of the applicant from high school or the receipt by the applicant of a high school general equivalency diploma, whichever occurred most recently.~~ *Whether the applicant has an untreated medical condition that may affect his or her ability to practice perfusion;*

(j) Whether the applicant is using a prescription drug or other substance that may affect his or her ability to practice perfusion; and

(k) A public address and the mailing address at which the applicant prefers to receive correspondence from the Board.

2. An applicant must submit to the Board:

(a) Proof of completion of a perfusion education program that satisfies the requirements of NRS 630.2691. For the purpose of that section, the following perfusion education programs shall be deemed approved by the Board:

(1) Any perfusion education program completed by the applicant on or before June 1, 1994, which was approved by the Committee on Allied Health Education and Accreditation of the American Medical Association;

(2) Any perfusion education program completed by the applicant after June 1, 1994, which was accredited by the Accreditation Committee-Perfusion Education and approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs of the American Medical Association, or its successor; or

(3) Any other perfusion education program completed by the applicant, the educational standards of which the Board determines are at least as stringent as those established by the Accreditation Committee-Perfusion Education and approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs of the American Medical Association, or its successor.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 630.2693, proof of passage of the certification examination given by the American Board of Cardiovascular Perfusion or its successor, as required by NRS 630.2692.

(c) Such further evidence and other documents or proof of qualifications as are required by the Board.

3. Each application must be signed by the applicant and accompanied by a signed affidavit indicating that:

(a) The applicant is the person named in the proof of completion of a perfusion education program required by subsection 2:

(b) The proof of completion of the education program required by subsection 2 was obtained without fraud or misrepresentation or any mistake of which the applicant is aware; and

(c) All the information contained in the application and any accompanying material is complete and correct.

4. The application must be accompanied by the applicable fee.

5. An applicant shall pay the reasonable costs of any examination required for licensure.

Sec. 31. NAC 630.715 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.715 1. An application for licensure by endorsement as a perfusionist must be made on a form supplied by the Board. The application must include:

- (a) The date and place of birth of the applicant;
- (b) The gender of the applicant;
- (c) The *postsecondary* education of the applicant ~~§~~ *as a perfusionist*, including, without limitation, each ~~{high school and}~~ postsecondary institution attended by the applicant, the dates of attendance and whether the applicant is a graduate of those ~~{schools and}~~ institutions;
- (d) Whether the applicant has ever applied for a license or certificate to practice perfusion in the District of Columbia or in another state or territory of the United States and, if so, when and where and the results of his or her application;
- (e) The ~~{training and}~~ *work* experience of the applicant ~~{in the practice of perfusion;}~~ *for the 5 years immediately preceding the date of his or her application;*
- (f) Whether the applicant has been disciplined by the corresponding regulatory authority of the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States in which the applicant currently holds or has held a license to practice perfusion;
- (g) Whether the applicant has been held civilly or criminally liable in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States for misconduct relating to his or her license to practice perfusion;
- (h) Whether the applicant has had a license to practice perfusion suspended or revoked in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States;
- (i) Whether the applicant has pending any disciplinary action concerning his or her license to practice perfusion in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States;
- (j) If the applicant has ever been *arrested for, investigated for, charged with*, convicted of ~~{a felony}~~ or ~~{an}~~ *pled guilty or nolo contendere to*:

(1) Any offense ~~involving moral turpitude, the dates, circumstances and disposition of each such occurrence;~~ or violation of any federal, state or local law, including, without limitation, the laws of any foreign country, which is a misdemeanor, gross misdemeanor, felony, or similar offense in a foreign jurisdiction, excluding any minor traffic offense; or

(2) Any violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice;

(k) If the applicant has ever been *arrested for*, investigated for, charged with, ~~or~~ convicted of ~~the use, illegal sale~~ *or plead guilty or nolo contendere to any offense which is related to the manufacture, distribution, prescribing or dispensing of a controlled substance ; ~~the dates, circumstances and disposition of each such occurrence; and~~*

(l) ~~Each place of residence of the applicant after the date of graduation of the applicant from high school or the receipt by the applicant of a high school general equivalency diploma, whichever occurred most recently.~~ *Whether the applicant has an untreated medical condition that may affect his or her ability to practice perfusion;*

(m) Whether the applicant is using a prescription drug or other substance that may affect his or her ability to practice perfusion; and

(n) A public address and the mailing address at which the applicant prefers to receive correspondence from the Board.

2. An applicant must submit to the Board:

(a) Proof that he or she holds a corresponding valid and unrestricted license to practice perfusion in the District of Columbia or any state or territory of the United States.

(b) Proof that he or she has engaged in the practice of perfusion for a period of at least 12 months immediately preceding the date on which the application is submitted.

(c) Proof of completion of a perfusion education program that satisfies the requirements of NRS 630.2691. For the purpose of that section, the following perfusion education programs shall be deemed approved by the Board:

(1) Any perfusion education program completed by the applicant on or before June 1, 1994, which was approved by the Committee on Allied Health Education and Accreditation of the American Medical Association;

(2) Any perfusion education program completed by the applicant after June 1, 1994, which was accredited by the Accreditation Committee-Perfusion Education and approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs of the American Medical Association or its successor; or

(3) Any other perfusion education program completed by the applicant, the educational standards of which the Board determines are at least as stringent as those established by the Accreditation Committee-Perfusion Education and approved by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs of the American Medical Association or its successor.

(d) Unless the examination requirement is waived pursuant to NRS 630.2693, proof of passage of the certification examination given by the American Board of Cardiovascular Perfusion or its successor, as required by NRS 630.2692.

(e) Such further evidence and other documents or proof of qualifications as required by the Board.

(f) The statement prescribed by the Division of Welfare and Supportive Services of the Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to NRS 425.520.

(g) An affidavit stating that the information contained in the application and any accompanying material is true and complete.

(h) A complete set of his or her fingerprints and written permission authorizing the Board to forward the fingerprints to the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal History for submission to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for its report or proof that the applicant has previously passed a comparable criminal background check.

3. Each application must be signed by the applicant and sworn to before a notary public or other officer authorized to administer oaths.

4. The application must be accompanied by the applicable fees for the application for licensure and biennial registration.

5. An applicant shall pay the reasonable costs of any examination required for licensure.

6. Not later than 21 business days after receiving an application for a license by endorsement pursuant to this section, the Board will provide written notice to the applicant of any additional information required by the Board to consider the application. Unless the Board denies the application for good cause, the Board will approve the application and issue a license by endorsement to practice perfusion to the applicant not later than:

(a) Sixty days after receiving the application; or

(b) Fifteen days after the Board receives the report from the Federal Bureau of Investigation or proof that the applicant has previously passed a comparable criminal background check, as required by paragraph (h) of subsection 2,

↪ whichever occurs later.

7. A license by endorsement to practice perfusion in this State issued pursuant to this section may be issued at a meeting of the Board or between its meetings by the presiding member of the

Board and the executive director of the Board. Such an action shall be deemed to be an action of the Board.

8. If an applicant seeking licensure by endorsement pursuant to this section is an active member of, or the spouse of an active member of, the Armed Forces of the United States, a veteran or the surviving spouse of a veteran, the Board will charge not more than one-half of the fee established pursuant to NRS 630.268 for the initial issuance of the license.

9. In addition to the grounds set forth in NAC 630.710 and 630.770, the Board may deny an application for licensure by endorsement pursuant to this section if:

(a) An applicant willfully fails to comply with the provisions of paragraph (h) of subsection 2; or

(b) The report from the Federal Bureau of Investigation indicates that the applicant has been convicted of a crime that would be grounds for taking disciplinary action against the applicant as a licensee and the Board has not previously taken disciplinary action against the ~~licensee~~ *applicant* based on that conviction.

Sec. 32. NAC 630.730 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.730 **1.** Before providing perfusion services, a perfusionist must notify the Board, on a form prescribed by the Board, of the name and location of the primary location of practice of the perfusionist. The form must be signed by the perfusionist.

2. *Within 30 days after changing his or her primary location of practice, a perfusionist shall provide to the Board the updated name and location of his or her primary location of practice.*

Sec. 33. NAC 630.770 is hereby amended to read as follows:

630.770 1. A perfusionist is subject to discipline pursuant to chapter 630 of NRS or denial of licensure by the Board if, after notice and hearing, the Board finds that the perfusionist:

(a) Willfully and intentionally made a false or fraudulent statement or submitted a forged or false document in applying for or renewing a license.

(b) Performed perfusion services other than as permitted by law.

(c) Committed malpractice in the performance of perfusion services, which may be evidenced by claims settled against the perfusionist.

(d) Disobeyed any order of the Board or an investigative committee of the Board or violated any provision of this chapter or chapter 630 of NRS.

(e) Is not competent to provide perfusion services.

(f) Lost his or her certification by the American Board of Cardiovascular Perfusion or its successor organization.

(g) Failed to notify the Board of loss of certification by the American Board of Cardiovascular Perfusion or its successor organization within 30 days after the loss of certification.

(h) Falsified or altered records of health care **H**, *including, without limitation, by indicating his or her presence at a procedure or the performance of a procedure that he or she was not present for or did not perform, as applicable.*

(i) Rendered perfusion services to a patient while under the influence of alcohol or any controlled substance or in any impaired mental or physical condition.

(j) Practiced perfusion after his or her license as a perfusionist had expired or been revoked or suspended.

(k) Has been convicted of a felony, any offense involving moral turpitude or any offense relating to the practice of perfusion or the ability to practice perfusion.

(l) Has had a license to practice perfusion revoked, suspended, modified or limited by another state or jurisdiction or has surrendered such a license or discontinued the practice of perfusion while under investigation by any licensing authority, a medical facility, a branch of the Armed Forces of the United States, an insurance company, an agency of the Federal Government or any employer.

(m) Engaged in any sexual activity with a patient who was being treated by the perfusionist.

(n) Engaged in disruptive behavior with physicians, hospital personnel, patients, members of the family of a patient or any other person if the behavior interferes with the care of a patient or has an adverse impact on the quality of care rendered to a patient.

(o) Engaged in conduct which brings the profession of perfusion into disrepute, including, without limitation, conduct that violates the provisions of section 3 of LCB File No. R002-23.

(p) Engaged in sexual contact with a surrogate of a patient or with any person related to a patient, including, without limitation, a spouse, parent or legal guardian of a patient, that exploits the relationship between the perfusionist and the patient in a sexual manner.

(q) Made or filed a report that the perfusionist knew to be false, failed to file a record or report as required by law or willfully obstructed or induced another person to obstruct any such filing.

(r) Failed to report to the Board any person that the perfusionist knew, or had reason to know, was in violation of any provision of this chapter or chapter 630 of NRS relating to the practice of perfusion.

(s) Has been convicted of a violation of any federal or state law regulating the prescription, possession, distribution or use of a controlled substance.

(t) Held himself or herself out or permitted another person to represent the perfusionist as a licensed physician.

(u) Violated any provision that would subject a person to discipline pursuant to NRS 630.301 to 630.3065, inclusive, or NAC 630.230.

(v) Failed to comply with any applicable provision of chapter 629 of NRS or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto.

2. A person who has been licensed as a perfusionist by the Board but is not currently licensed, has surrendered his or her license or has failed to renew his or her license may be disciplined by the Board upon hearing a complaint for disciplinary action against the person.

Sec. 34. NAC 630.410 and 630.555 are hereby repealed.

TEXT OF REPEALED SECTIONS

630.410 Determination after notice and hearing: Sanctions or dismissal of charges.

(NRS 630.130, 630.275) If the Board finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, after notice and hearing in accordance with this chapter, that:

1. The charges in the complaint against the physician assistant are true, the Board will issue and serve on the physician assistant its written findings and any order of sanctions. The following sanctions may be imposed by order:

(a) Placement on probation for a specified period on any of the conditions specified in the order.

(b) Administration of a public reprimand.

(c) Limitation of his or her practice or exclusion of one or more specified branches of medicine from his or her practice.

(d) Suspension of his or her license, for a specified period or until further order of the Board.

(e) Revocation of his or her license to practice.

(f) A requirement that the physician assistant participate in a program to correct alcohol or drug dependence or any other impairment.

(g) A requirement that there be additional and specified supervision of his or her practice.

(h) A requirement that the physician assistant perform community service without compensation.

(i) A requirement that the physician assistant take a physical or mental examination or an examination testing his or her medical competence.

(j) A requirement that the physician assistant fulfill certain training or educational requirements, or both, as specified by the Board.

(k) A fine not to exceed \$5,000.

(l) A requirement that the physician assistant pay all costs incurred by the Board relating to the disciplinary proceedings.

2. No violation has occurred, it will issue a written order dismissing the charges and notify the physician assistant that the charges have been dismissed. If the disciplinary proceedings were initiated as a result of a complaint filed against the physician assistant, the Board may provide to

the physician assistant a copy of the complaint and the name of the person who filed the complaint.

630.555 Determination after notice and hearing: Sanctions or dismissal of charges.

(NRS 630.130, 630.279) If the Board finds, by a preponderance of the evidence, after notice and hearing in accordance with this chapter, that:

1. The charges in a complaint against a practitioner of respiratory care are true, the Board will issue and serve on the practitioner of respiratory care its written findings and any order of sanctions. The following sanctions may be imposed on a practitioner of respiratory care by order of the Board:

- (a) Placement on probation for a specified period on any of the conditions specified in the order.
- (b) Administration of a public reprimand.
- (c) Suspension of his or her license for a specified period or until further order of the Board.
- (d) Revocation of his or her license to practice.
- (e) A requirement that he or she participate in a program to correct alcohol or drug dependence or any other impairment.
- (f) A requirement that there be specified supervision of his or her practice.
- (g) A requirement that he or she perform public service without compensation.
- (h) A requirement that he or she take a physical or mental examination or an examination testing his or her medical competence.
- (i) A requirement that he or she fulfill certain training or educational requirements, or both, as specified by the Board.
- (j) A fine not to exceed \$1,500.

(k) A requirement that the practitioner of respiratory care pay all costs incurred by the Board relating to the disciplinary proceedings.

2. No violation has occurred, the Board will issue a written order dismissing the charges and notify the practitioner of respiratory care that the charges have been dismissed. If the disciplinary proceedings were initiated as a result of a complaint filed against the practitioner of respiratory care, the Board may provide to the practitioner of respiratory care a copy of the complaint and the name of the person who filed the complaint.